FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 8/9/2019 4:41 PM FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/12/2019
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK
97530-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 49836-7-II

ESTATE OF EDNA ALLEN,

Petitioner,

and

WASHINGTON STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Petitioner,

v.

DAN & BILL'S RV PARK,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Attorney for Petitioner Estate of Edna Allen 1000 Second Avenue, Ste 3200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 962-0676

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Estate of Edna Allen asks this court to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of (1) the Court of Appeals' decision filed on October 16, 2018 which reversed the attorney-fee award adjudged by the Pierce County Superior Court in favor of petitioner, and (2) the denial of petitioner's motion for reconsideration. The court of appeals decision was published *sub nomine Allen v. Dan and Bill's RV Park*, 6 Wn. App.2d 349, 428 P.3d 376 (2018). A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix at A-1.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the court of appeals too narrowly construed a remedial statute providing low-income tenants with greater access to legal services.
- 2. Whether a tenant's initial utilization of the MHDRP precludes a later award of attorney's fees to the tenant who successfully files an action to obtain reversal of an ALJ order.
- 3. Whether the language "action arising out of" in RCW 59.20.110 should have a broad construction—instead of a narrow one-to carry out its purpose of making legal services more accessible to mobile home park and RV park tenants.
- 4. Whether the decision of the court of appeals provides a disincentive for attorneys to help low-income tenants who experience blatant violations of the MHLTA at the hands of park management.
- 5. Whether the formerly homeless tenant was a "qualified party" with assets of less than \$1 million so as to be alternatively entitled to attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.350(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose when the mobile home park (the "park") in which Edna Allen lived in her recreational vehicle ("RV") failed to give her a written rental agreement as she requested after she acquired the RV in Dan and Bill's RV Park, and after the park raised her rent without prior notice within a few months, both of which actions are expressly prohibited by the MHLTA.¹

The park did nothing in response to her complaints, so she filed a complaint with the Mobile Home Dispute Resolution Program ("MHDRP") administered by the Washington Attorney General under RCW ch. 59.30.

The MHDRP determined that there was a violation of the MHLTA and issued a notice of violation to the park, followed by a cease and desist order. AR 7-13, AR 60-64. The park sought an administrative hearing regarding the validity of the notice and order. AR 3-6, AR 65-68. An ALJ determined, following a hearing, that Dan and Bill's RV Park did not meet the definition of a mobile home park under the MHLTA and reversed the AG's notice and order. Conclusions of Law 5.25 and 5.26 at CP 21 and 6.1 and 6.2 at CP 22. Significant to the instant petition for review is that *no court action* had been filed up to that point.

Ms. Allen, believing herself aggrieved by the ALJ's order and not knowing whether the AG would appeal that order, retained private counsel

¹ AR 976-979; RCW 59.20.050(1) and 59.20.060(1) (requiring a mobile home park landlord to offer a written rental agreement); RCW 59.20.060(2)(c) (prohibiting a park landlord from increasing rent more frequently than annually); RCW 59.20.090(2) (three months' written notice to tenant required before raising rent at the end of a term).

to appeal the ALJ's decision to the superior court.² Her counsel filed an action in the Thurston County Superior Court for review of the ALJ's decision on December 8, 2015. CP 3-6. Since the ALJ's final order was issued on November 9, 2015 (CP 7-23), Ms. Allen filed her petition for review on the 29th day, one day before the deadline for filing the petition for review. RCW 34.05.542(2). The very next day, on December 9, 2015, the MHDRP also filed a petition for review. CP 251-4. The superior court consolidated the MHDRP's appeal under the case number assigned to Ms. Allen's appeal. CP 30-31.

The superior court determined that the park met the statutory definition of a mobile home park and reversed the ruling of the ALJ. CP 159-60. The superior court also found petitioner was entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs under RCW 59.20.110, finding that the *action* arose under the MHLTA. *Id*.

The park appealed the ruling of the superior court with respect to the holding that its park was a mobile home park and that Ms. Allen was entitled to attorney's fees. CP 231-32. The court of appeals reversed, consistent with the superior court's ruling, the ALJ's determination that the landlord did not operate a mobile home park subject to the provisions of RCW ch. 59.20. The court of appeals also reversed the superior court's concomitant ruling that the petitioner tenant Edna Allen was entitled to attorney's fees

² The park has argued that the AG had no standing to appeal an order entered by its own agency. CP 44. That particular issue was not decided by the superior court or the Court of Appeals. If the superior court or the court of appeals had ruled that the MHDRP had no standing, and Ms. Allen had not filed a petition for review of the ALJ's decision, then the ALJ's determination would have been final and adverse to Ms. Allen's interest.

and costs in the amount of \$41,655.25 under RCW 59.20.110 on the basis that the present action was one *arising out of* RCW ch. <u>59.30</u> rather than one *arising out of* RCW ch. <u>59.20</u>. *Slp. Opn.* at 7, 23 (A-7, 23). Ms. Allen argued that the present *action* was filed when Ms. Allen filed her petition for review in Thurston County Superior Court, which action was later consolidated with the AG's later-filed petition for review in the superior court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents issues of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The Court of Appeals Too Narrowly Construed a Remedial Statute Providing Low-Income Tenants with Greater Access to Legal Services.

A remedial statute should be construed liberally to effectuate its purpose. See Gaglidari v. Denny's Rests., Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 450-51, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991) (recognizing statute's remedial nature and liberal construction requirement); Naches Valley Sch. Dist. No. JT3 v. Cruzen, 54 Wn. App. 388, 399, 775 P.2d 960 (1989). A liberal construction requires that the coverage of the statute's provisions "be liberally construed [in favor of the employee] and that its exceptions be narrowly confined." Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Employees, 130 Wn.2d 401, 407, 924 P.2d 13 (1996) (interpreting chapter 41.56 RCW) (quoting Nucleonics Alliance, Local Union 1-369 v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 101 Wn.2d 24, 29, 677 P.2d 108 (1984)).

The legislature put in place the MHLTA, RCW ch. 59.20, to regulate

the relations between landlords and tenants of mobile home parks. RCW 59.20.040. RV's are a particularly important housing resource for the lowest income people, such as people living on SSI or other forms of fixed income. CP 374. Some 67,000 people live in such parks in the state of Washington. CP 401. RCW 59.20.110 provides a fee-shifting mechanism such that tenants in mobile home parks can obtain attorney's fees for successfully prosecuting or defending a lawsuit arising out of the MHLTA. The court of appeals stripped away significant tenants' protections by narrowly interpreting the phrase "arising out of" in RCW 59.20.110. Unbeknownst to them, tenants who make a complaint to the AG through the MHDRP are effectively barred by the court of appeals' decision from retaining counsel to appeal an unfavorable ALJ decision at the administrative level. This results from their inability to hire counsel to represent them.

2. The Language "Action Arising Out Of" in RCW 59.20.110 Should Have a Broad Construction—Instead of a Narrow One-- to Carry Out its Purpose of Making Legal Services More Accessible to Mobile Home Park and RV Park Tenants.

The present case involves a fee-shifting statute under the Mobile Home Landlord-Tenant Act ("MHLTA"), i.e., RCW 59.20.110, which provides that in "any action arising out of this chapter [RCW ch. 59.20], the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs." The court of appeals determined that the action involved herein arose out of the MHDRP's notice of violation under RCW ch. 59.30, and therefore the action did not *arise out of* RCW ch. 59.20, so petitioner was not entitled to

attorney's fees. *Slp. Opn.* at 22 (A-22). This constituted a very narrow construction where a more liberal construction was required to carry out the legislative intent. The court of appeals failed to consider that an *action* may arise from more than one source.

In addition, the court of appeals quoted RCW 59.30.040(13) (see A-63) as supporting its conclusion that "the remedy provided by chapter 59.30 RCW is distinct from that provided by chapter 59.20 RCW, and supports the conclusion that the attorney fees and costs provided under RCW 59.20.110 is [sic] limited to those incurred as a result of a legal action arising from chapter 59.20 RCW." Slp. Opn. at 21 (A-21). This is circular reasoning. A more liberal construction of the statute would be to conclude that Ms. Allen's *action* commenced when she filed the petition for review in superior court based on the ALJ's erroneous interpretation of the law defining a mobile home park, i.e., RCW ch. 59.20. RCW ch. 59.20 is inextricably bound with everything that happened in this case.

Washington courts have previously defined "arising out of" as meaning "'originating from,' 'having its origin in,' 'growing out of,' or 'flowing from.'" *National Surety Corporation v. Immunex Corporation*, 162 Wn. App. 762, 772-3, 256 P.3d 439 (2011), *aff'd*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). The phrase is unambiguous and has a broader meaning than "caused by" or "resulted from." *Munn v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co.*, 73 Wn. App. 321, 325, 869 P.2d 99 (1994) (citing *Toll Bridge Auth. v. Aetna Ins. Co.*, 54 Wn. App. 400, 404, 773 P.2d 906 (1989)). "Arising out of" does not mean "proximately caused by." *Id*.

a. An Action Refers to a Court Action.

RCW 59.20.110 refers to an "action arising out of" RCW ch. 59.20. An "action" is a "prosecution in a *court* for the enforcement or protection of private rights and the redress of private wrongs . . ." *Thorgaard Plumbing & Heating Co. v. King County*, 71 Wn.2d 126, 130, 426 P.2d 828 (1967) (italics added) (distinguishing between an "action" and an arbitration proceeding). The proceeding before the ALJ in this case was therefore not an *action* within the meaning of RCW 59.20.110.

The *action* did not occur until Ms. Allen filed a petition for review of the ALJ's decision in Thurston County Superior Court on the 29th day following the ALJ's decision. The fact that the AG filed a similar petition for review on the next day, and that both petitions were consolidated under the *action* that Ms. Allen filed, does not change that result. CP 251-54; CP 30-31.

Ms. Allen's petition for review by the superior court raised the issue that the ALJ incorrectly determined the definition of a mobile home park. Following the ALJ's ruling, she may well have been able to file a civil lawsuit against the park regarding the park's failure to provide her with a written rental agreement. RCW 59.30.040(13) (A-64); *Slp Opn.* at 21 (A-21). However, unless she appealed the ALJ's decision, that decision may well have been binding upon her in a subsequent civil action. So as a practical matter, she had little choice but to appeal the ALJ's incorrect determination that she did not live in a mobile home park as defined in RCW ch. 59.20.

b. The Term "arising out of" Has Two Meanings, Both of Which Support its Application to the Present Case.

The word "arise" can mean (1) come into being; originate, or (2) in the expression "arise from/out of" occur as a result of: most conflicts arise from ignorance or uncertainty. New Oxford American Dictionary 84 (2001).³ Under the first meaning, this case arose from, i.e., originated from, the park's violations of the MHLTA, which led to a complaint to the MHDRP, an administrative hearing, an appeal to the superior court and ultimately an appeal to this court.

Under the second meaning, this case occurred as a result of the park's failure to have a written lease and failure to provide adequate notice of rental increases. These violations led to Ms. Allen's complaint to the MHDRP, a subsequent administrative hearing, an appeal to the superior court and court of appeals, and ultimately a petition for review to this court.

Under common usage of the term *arise out of*, this case arose out of the MHLTA. The definitions of a *mobile home park* under RCW 59.20.030(10), a *park model* under RCW 59.20.030(14), and a *recreational vehicle* under RCW 59.20.030(17) were pervasive and central to the resolution of this case, and were extensively addressed by the ALJ, the superior court and the court of appeals. It is evident that this case would not have arisen at all if the MHLTA had not been enacted, or if the above definitions had been worded differently.

³ Another meaning of "arise" is "emerge" or "become apparent," as in the expression *new difficulties had arisen. Id.*

Finally, since the MHLTA is a remedial statute, it should be given a liberal interpretation.⁴ A liberal interpretation would be a broad reading of the circumstances under which a litigant were entitled to attorney's fees in accordance with RCW 59.20.110, i.e., any *action* arising out of the MHLTA, rather than excluding attorney's fees in actions *procedurally arising out of* the MHDRP.

c. Other Courts Have Given the Term "arising out of" a Broad Interpretation in Similar Circumstances.

Counsel for petitioner Edna Allen has found no cases in Washington construing the language "arising out of" the MHLTA as contained in RCW 59.20.110. However, cases in California, with a virtually identical statute in the mobile home context have construed the same language in its broad sense as used in ordinary language.⁵

In SC Manufactured Homes, Inc. v. Canyon View Estates, Inc., 148 Cal.App.4th 663, 675, 56 Cal.Rptr.3d 79 (2007) the California court of appeals held that to be entitled to attorney's fees and costs under the California equivalent to RCW 59.20.110, "the underlying case must arise in the context of those relationships and claims addressed by the MRL" [equivalent to the MHLTA]. 148 Cal.App. 4th at 675. The court further held that the "phrase 'any action arising out of the provisions of [the MRL]'

⁴ The remedial nature of the MHLTA is exemplified by its protection of tenants. See *infra* at fn 7 and cases cited at p. 17 herein.

⁵ The California Mobilehome Residency Law ("MRL") (Cal. Civ. Code § 798 et seq.) contains a fee-shifting statute providing in relevant part as follows: "In any action arising out of the provisions of this chapter, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs." Cal. Civ. Code § 798.85.

in Civil Code section 798.85 encompasses only those actions directly involving the application of MRL provisions in specific factual contexts addressed by the MRL, such as actions by mobilehome park residents against management for failing to maintain physical improvements in common facilities in good working order." 148 Cal.App. 4th at 675. The court of appeals clarified that a "case may 'arise' under the MRL even if a complaint does not allege a specific cause of action under the MRL, as long as the dispute is one within the scope of the MRL. While the defendants' defenses may be considered, the foundation of the case must be grounded in the MRL." *Canyon Park*, 148 Cal.App. 4th at 676.

The present case comes within the scope of *Canyon View*, as the notice of violation issued by the MHDRP stated that following an "investigation into the above-entitled matter pursuant to RCW 59.30.040, the Manufactured Housing Dispute Resolution Program of the Office of the Attorney General of Washington has found there to be a VIOLATION of the [MHLTA], RCW 59.20." AR 7. The notice in its introduction to the violation sets forth the AG's conclusion that the park violated "RCW 59.20.050(1) and RCW 59.20.060(1) by failing to provide a written rental agreement; RCW 59.20.060(2)(c), RCW 59.20.080, and RCW 59.20.090(2) by improperly increasing rent; RCW 59.20.130(1) by failing to comply with Pierce County codes and ordinances; and RCW 59.30.050(2) by failing to register as a manufactured/mobile home community with the Department of Revenue." AR 8. The overwhelming number of violations were of the MHLTA [RCW ch. 59.20], with only one coming under RCW ch. 59.30

[failure to register with the Department of Revenue]. *Id.* Thus, the *foundation* of the present case *was grounded in* the MHLTA. *Canyon View, supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 676.

In *Canyon View*, the court also discussed the case of *Palmer v. Agee*, 87 Cal.App.3d 377, 150 Cal.Rptr. 841 (1978) as follows:

[The] owners of a mobilehome park filed a complaint for unlawful detainer against the defendants, residents of the park. The trial court granted the defendants' motion for judgment on the pleadings because the park failed to give However, the trial court denied the proper notice. defendants' motion for attorney fees pursuant to . . . [MRL] Section 798.85. The trial court reasoned that "the action did not arise out of [the MRL notice provision], but arose out of an unlawful detainer action " The appellate court held that the trial court erred in refusing to award attorney fees under the MRL because actions include all proceedings required to perfect rights and are not 'limited to the complaint or the document initiating the action but the entire judicial proceeding An 'action' thus includes all proceedings, at least to the time of judgment, which are required to perfect the rights. The defenses raised in the answer to the complaint are a real part of any action.' The tenant's defense to the unlawful detainer proceedings that the landlord had not complied with MRL arose from the MRL.

[Citations omitted and italics added.] *Canyon View, supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 676, discussing *Palmer v. Agee*, 87 Cal.App.3d 377, 380-81, 386-87. This same rationale strongly supports the conclusion that the MHDRP action here, where the claims were predominantly based on the park's violations of the MHLTA, was within the scope and "particular factual context addressed by the" MHLTA, because the claims "involve application of" the MHLTA provisions "to a particular factual context addressed by

the" MHLTA. *Canyon View*, *supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at 675, 676 (discussing *Palmer*). That context is whether mobile parks have to provide written rental agreements as provided in RCW 59.20.050(1) and .060(1) and must give three months' notice of a rent increase as provided in RCW 59.20.090(2), and conform to other aspects of the MHLTA as raised in the AG's notice of violation.

Canyon View also cited in support of its decision the case of People v. McKale, 25 Cal.3d 626, 159 Cal.Rptr. 811 (1979). Canyon View, 148 Cal.App.4th at 677. In McKale, a district attorney advancing the interests of park tenants brought an action against a mobile home park and Wells Fargo Bank seeking civil penalties and injunctive relief for claimed violations of the California Mobilehome Residency Law ["MRL"]. The purported violations related to safety and sanitation and ranged from dumping waste water on the premises to improper burial of underground electrical wiring. McKale, supra, 25 Cal.3d at 632, 634. Other causes of action related to violations of the park's rules and regulations governing tenants. Id. at 634-635 and fn 2.

As to Wells Fargo, the issue was whether it was in "possession and control of the park during any of the alleged discriminatory acts." *McKale*, 25 Cal.3d at 638. Wells Fargo requested attorney's fees and costs as the prevailing party under the MRL, and the court stated, "[w]hile Wells Fargo appears to be entitled to fees and costs if it is determined to be a prevailing party (see Civ. Code, § 789.12), that determination must eventually depend on whether it prevails on remand." *McKale*, at 639; cited in *Canyon View*,

148 Cal.App. 4th 663, 677. Thus the California Supreme Court allowed for the possibility that Wells Fargo could be the prevailing party in an action arising out of a lawsuit by the district attorney raising issues on behalf of mobile home park tenants, which issues were governed by the MRL, the equivalent of the MHLTA.

Canyon View characterized the McKale case as "another situation in where the plaintiff did not allege a cause of action under the MRL, yet the underlying case discussed a specific factual situation addressed by the MRL." Canyon View, 148 Cal.App. 4th 663, 677. This is the same as the present case, where the AG did not specifically allege a cause of action under the MHLTA, but his claimed violations of the MHLTA were based on a factual situation addressed by the MHLTA. AR 9-10.

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