FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/9/2019 4:47 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97530-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 49836-7-II

DAN AND BILL'S RV PARK

Petitioner,

v.

ESTATE OF EDNA ALLEN, an individual, and MANUFACTURED HOUSING DISPUSTE RESOLUTION PROGRAM, WASHINGTON STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE,

Respondents.

DAN & BILL'S RV PARK ANSWER TO ESTATE OF EDNA ALLEN'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Seth Goodstein, WSBA No. 45091 Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA No. 13980 Attorneys for Petitioner Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Comes now Dan and Bill's RV Park ("RV Park"), through undersigned counsel Seth Goodstein and Carolyn Lake of Goodstein Law Group, PLLC, and seeks relief designated below.

II. RELIEF REQUESTED

RV Park respectfully requests the Court deny the Estate of Edna Allen's ("the Estate" or "Ms. Allen") Petition for Review. This is an administrative law review case arising under the Mobile Home Dispute Resolution Program, RCW Ch. 59.30 *et seq.* In Washington State, dissatisfied mobile home community tenants and landlords may choose to file suit for violation RCW Ch. 59.20, or they may work though the mobile home dispute resolution process set forth at RCW § 59.30.040. The Estate appears to invite the Court to ignore the difference in summoning a party to court under RCW Ch. 59.20 (not what happened here) and this administrative law review under RCW Ch. 59.30. The Estate's arguments that this case somehow specially "arises under" RCW Ch. 59.20 are of no avail; every administrative case initiated under RCW Ch. 59.30 begins with a complaint about an alleged RCW Ch. 59.20 violation.

Division II's published decision properly required the parties to bear their own fees and costs in accordance with the relevant statute, RCW

§ 59.30.040(9), which reads: "If an administrative hearing is initiated, the respondent and complainant shall each bear the cost of his or her own legal expenses". Despite the plain mandate, the Estate asks that this Court accept review and construe the statute to mean something else.

The 2014 legislature introduced a bill and held a committee hearing on this precise issue - deleting RCW § 59.30.040 (9) mandate that each party bear the cost of his or her own legal expenses and adding language that expressly allows fee shifting in the event of judicial review of an administrative order. The legislature declined to advance the amendment past the committee hearing. The Court should leave in place the Division II result.

III. RELEVANT RECORD

This case concerns Ms. Allen's rental of a campsite in Pierce County. In the Spring of 2014, RV Park informed Edna Allen that rental amount for parking her recreational vehicle would be increased from \$460 to \$480 per month. Ms. Allen complained to the Attorney General Office's Mobile Home Dispute Resolution Program ("Mobile Home Program") that RV Park did not provide ninety days of a \$20 rent increase, and that RV Park did not offer Ms. Allen a one-year lease, and apparently about receipting for rental payments. *Compl. Form.* AR 16-18.

On November 17, 2014, Mobile Home Program issued a notice of violation to the RV Park, concerning the rent increase, the term of Ms. Allen's lease. AR 7-11. The NOV added issues that were outside the scope of Ms. Allen's Complaint – such as RV Park's alleged failure to register with the Department of Revenue as a Mobile Home Park, and RV Park's alleged compliance with Pierce County zoning code (based upon the 2009 matter, which was dismissed in a court of law, AR 150). *Notice of Violation*. AR 10-11.

RV Park appealed the Notice of Violation. AR 3-6. The Attorney General has delegated review of its notices of violation to the Washington State Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH), which, through an administrative law judge ("ALJ"), renders the final administrative order of the Attorney General. RCW § 59.30.040. The Mobile Home Program convened an administrative hearing, which the OAH assigned case number 2014-AGO-0001. AR22. The ALJ overturned the Notice of Violation. Order. AR 869. Ms. Allen retained counsel and appealed the ALJ Order to the Thurston County Superior Court. *Pet. for Judicial Review.* CP 3-23. Ms. Allen alleged as ground of Superior Court Jurisdiction:

2.1 This court has jurisdiction pursuant to RCW § 59.30.040(10)(c) and RCW Ch. 34.05.

2.2 Petitioner has standing to obtain judicial review herein pursuant to RCW Ch. 34.05.030.

Allen Pet. for Judicial Review 2:2-3. CP 4. Ms. Allen's petition for review did not make any mention of RCW § 59.20.120¹.

The Thurston County Superior Court overturned the ALJ by ruling that the Mobile Home Landlord Tenant Act applies to RV Park. *Order*. CP 215-227. The Thurston County Superior Court awarded Ms. Allen's counsel attorney's fees against RV Park. *J.* CP 213-14. *Order*. CP 228-30.

From there, this matter arrived at Division II and Ms. Allen unfortunately passed away. *Notice of Appeal*. CP 231-50. By Published Opinion filed October 16, 2018, Division II affirmed application of Mobile Home Landlord Tenant Act to RV Park. *Allen v. Dan & Bill's RV Park*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 349, 354, 428 P.3d 376 (Div. 2, 2018). The Court overturned the Superior Court's fee award. *Id.* at 372-73. In overturning the fee award, the Court relied upon the plain language of RCW § 59.30.040(9) to reject the Estate's argument that this matter "arose out of" RCW Ch. 59.20 for purposes of applying RCW § 59.20.110 fee shifting. *Id.* The Court noted that that the Estate had a choice of remedy and chose

¹ Venue. Venue for any action arising under this chapter shall be in the district or superior court of the county in which the mobile home lot is located.

dispute resolution under RCW Ch. 59.30, which is "distinct from that provided by RCW Ch. 59.20 RCW...." *Id*.

In a footnote, the Court also found that the Estate did not properly preserve a possible request for attorney's fees under the Equal Access to Justice Act, RCW § 4.84.350. 6.Wn.App at 373, n. 9. The Court explained that the Estate did not establish its status as a qualified party.

The Estate filed for reconsideration of Division II's attorney fee ruling. The Estate's Motion mostly sought reconsideration of the Court's reasoning that this case does not arise under RCW Ch. 59.20, but, briefly requests that the Court revise the superior court award to \$25,000. The Estate does not request that the proper party – the Mobile Home Dispute Resolution Program – bear proposed reduced award costs. Division II summarily denied the Motion for Reconsideration.

IV. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF & ARGUMENT

1. Petition does not Adequately Address RAP 13.4 Factors.

The Estate dedicates merely one sentence to why this Court should grant review "This case presents issues of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court". This is inadequate² and not true. RCW § 59.30.030(e) requires the Mobile Home Dispute Resolution Program to maintain a list of outcomes for each complaint.

5

² Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wash.2d at 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Administrative review of Mobile Home Program complaints is rare. In 2018, only two of the 422³ complaints the Mobile Home Program received resulted received father administrative law review. In 2017, zero of the 244⁴ resulted in administrative law review, the Court of appeal ruled on one prior appeal. RV Park is aware of just two appeals decisions stemming from Mobile Home Program complaints, this matter and *Narrows Real Estate, Inc. v. Manufactured/Mobile Home Dispute*Resolution Program, 401 P.3d 346, 199 Wn.App. 842 (Div. 2, 2017). The Court should not grant review of fee shifting under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The Plain Language of RCW § 59.30.040(9) Does not Invite Construction, and Requires Denial of the Petition.

It is undisputed that had the Estate summoned RV Park into the Pierce County Superior Court a determination on MHLTA issues pursuant to RCW § 59.20.120, then Ms. Allen would be entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs under RCW § 59.20.110. For example, courts have used RCW § 59.20.110 to award fees and costs to parties in mobile

³Manufactured Housing Dispute Resolution Program 2018 Annual Report to the Legislature.

https://agportal-

s3bucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploadedfiles/Home/Safeguarding Consumers/Manufacture d_Housing_Dispute_Resolution_Program/Stats_and_Outcomes/2018-MHU-Annual-Report-V2corrected.pdf . Accessed September 9, 2019.

⁴ Manufactured Housing Dispute Resolution Program 2017 Annual Report to the Legislature.

https://agportal-

s3bucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploadedfiles/Home/Safeguarding Consumers/Manufacture d_Housing_Dispute_Resolution_Program/Stats_and_Outcomes/2017-MHU-Annual-Report-2.pdf . Accessed September 9, 2019.

home unlawful detainer actions. *See, e.g., Hartson P'ship v. Martinez,* 123 Wn. App. 36, 44, 96 P.3d 449 (2004), *review denied,* 154 Wn.2d 1010 (2005); *Duvall Highlands, LLC v. Elwell, 104 Wn. App.* 763, 771-72, 19 P.3d 1051 (2001). But, Ms. Allen did not summon RV Park into Court for an action arising under RCW § 59.20. *Pet. for Review* 14-15. The Estate expressly sought judicial review in the Thurston County Superior Court under RCW § 59.30.040 and the Administrative Procedures Act, 34.05:

2.1 This court has jurisdiction pursuant to RCW §59.30.040(10)(c) and RCW Ch. 34.05.2.2 Petitioner has standing to obtain judicial review herein pursuant to RCW Ch. 34.05.030.

Allen Pet. for Judicial Review 2:2-3. CP 4.

The law here is clear. "If an administrative hearing is initiated, the respondent and complainant shall each bear the cost of his or her own legal expenses". RCW § 59.30.040(9). In this case, Ms. Allen was the Complainant. *See, i.e., Compl. Form.* AR 16-18, *Allen Testimony* AR 1006-7. RV Park caused an administrative hearing to be initiated, from which the Estate appealed to Thurston County Superior Court under RCW § 59.30.040. *Allen Pet. for Judicial Review* 2:2-3. CP 4.

The Estate misplaces reliance upon RCW § 59.20.110, a statute from 1977 that reads "In any action arising out of this chapter, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs".

In 2007, the legislature enacted RCW Ch. 59.30 dispute resolution program and its attendant requirement RCW § 59.30.040(9) that *Complainants*⁵, like the Estate, bear their own fees and costs.

Similarly, in *Holiday Resort Cmty. Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs.*, *LLC*, 134 Wn. App. 210, 228, n. 15, 135 P.3d 499 (Div, 1, 2006), the court ruled a plaintiff who claimed damages under Washington State's Consumer Protection Act stemming from alleged violations of RCW Ch. 59.20 could not recover attorney's fees under RCW § 59.20.110 because the CPA claim, despite alleging a violation of RCW Ch. 59.20, does not arise under 59.20:

RCW 59.20.[110] provides for an award of fees in "any action arising out of the MHLTA. [sic] We disagree with the trial court's conclusion that the tenants' CPA claim arises out of the MHLTA. Should MHCW prevail, they are not entitled to attorney fees under the MHLTA, RCW 59.20.110. Should the tenants prevail on their CPA claim, they would be entitled to request attorney fees under the CPA.

Division II's holding mirrors the holding *Holiday Resort*:

Allen argues that the action "clearly arose out of the Park's violations of the MHLTA and Ms. Allen's subsequent complaints to the [Program]." *Reply Br. of Allen at 22*. However, although the reason for Allen's request for dispute resolution may have come from a potential violation of chapter 59.20 RCW, this particular

8

⁵ In its Reply in Support of Reconsideration before Division II, the Estate claimed that Ms. Allen was not a "party" the Office of Administrative hearings proceedings, and only became a "party" upon filing the Petition for Review to the Superior Court. This creative argument fails, because RCW § 59.30.040(9) requires *complainants* to bear their own fees and costs, the Estate was undoubtedly the complainant here.

action arose out of and was initiated under chapter 59.30 RCW, the dispute resolution statute.

Allen, 6 Wn. App. 2d 3at 372. These cases establish that the mere need for a legal determination under RCW Ch. 59.20 does not necessarily mean that the case arises under RCW Ch. 59.20 for purposes of fee shifting under RCW § 59.20.120.

There can be no dispute that this case arose as an administrative hearing pursuant to RCW § 59.30.040. *Allen Pet. for Judicial Rev.* 2. Therefore, the plain language of RCW § 59.30.040 applies and precludes award of fees "(9) If an administrative hearing is initiated, the respondent and complainant shall each bear the cost of his or her own legal expenses".

3. Washington State's Legislature Ruled Against this Precise Issue in 2014

Aside from the plain language of RCW § 59.30.040(9). Most damming to the Estate's Petition is the fact that the 2014 legislature took up this precise issue and decided not to allow fee shifting in this type of case. SB 6309⁶ proposed to delete RCW § 59.30.040(9) and replace it with:

NEW SECTION. Sec. 2. A new section is added to chapter 59.30 RCW to read as follows:

In any administrative or judicial review of any notice of violation issued by the attorney general under RCW §

9

⁶ <u>https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=6309&Year=2013&Initiative=false</u>, accessed March 15, 2019. **Appendix 1** hereto.

59.30.040, the prevailing party is entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

SB 6309. Appendix 1. The SB 6309 Digest states that the bill

Entitles a prevailing party to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in an administrative or judicial review of a notice of violation issued by the attorney general under the manufactured/mobile home dispute resolution program.

Appendix 2. On January 28, 2014, SB 6309 received a committee hearing. *Senate Bill Rpt*. Appendix 3. Thirteen witnesses testified. *Committee Notes*. Appendix 4. The Mobile Home Program testified against allowing fee shifting. *Id*. SB 6309 failed to advance out of committee. SB 6309 is not the law.

SB 6309 is instructive for two reasons. It confirms enough state legislators understood the plain meaning of RCW § 59.30.040(9) consistent with this Division II's Opinion in this case to file a bill and have a hearing on whether 59.30.040(9) should be amended to allow fee shifting in this situation. Second, to the extent that this Court might entertain interpretation of the very plainly worded RCW § 59.30.040(9), legislative history informs that construction. *Tenino Aerie v. Grand Aerie*, 148 Wn.2d 224, 243, 59 P.3d 655 (2002) ("In ascertaining legislative intent, this court resorts to legislative history, statutory construction, and relevant case law"). In this instance, the legislative history requires denial of Ms. Allen's Petition because the legislature did not intend fee shifting

in administrative review cases under RCW § 59.30.040, and had the opportunity to introduce the fee shifting, but did not.

4. Other Foundational Statutory Construction Principles Require Denial of the Estate's Petition

Given the legislature's blunt directive on attorney's fees in this type of case and the legislative history on the issue at bar, the Court does not need to engage in statutory construction of RCW § 59.30.040(9)'s unambiguous mandate. By way of response to the Estate's various construction arguments, RV park first points out that the Court's fundamental task in construing a statute is to arrive at the legislature's intent. *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318, 320 (2003). In doing so, the Court presumes that the legislature is aware of surrounding previous enactments (*State v. Olson*, 182 Wn. App. 362, 377, 329 P.3d 121 (2014)) does not enact meaningless legislation (*State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 493, 656 P.2d 1064, 1070 (1983)). The Estate's proposal runs afoul of these basic statutory construction principles.

The Estate's proposal would impermissibly render RCW § 59.30.040(9) meaningless. This Court must presume that the Legislature was aware of RCW § 59.20.110 when it enacted RCW § 59.20.030 thirty years later and did not engage in meaningless action. Therefore, the Estate's proposal is untenable. Under MHDRP, "An aggrieved party has

the right to file a complaint with the attorney general alleging a violation of chapter 59.20 RCW". RCW § 59.30.040(1). Thus, the trigger for the MHDRP process occurs when a landlord or tenant alleges a violation of RCW 59.20. The complaint may ripen into an order or a notice of violation, and then an administrative hearing. "If an administrative hearing is initiated, the respondent and complainant shall each bear the cost of his or her own legal expenses". RCW § 59.30.040(9). Therefore, the triggering event for a MHDRP administrative hearing always involves the need for a determination under RCW Ch. 59.20. It follows that the administrative hearing will always involve a determination about whether parties are in violation of MHLTA. Therefore, the Estate's proposal renders RCW Ch. 59.30.040 completely meaningless.

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